COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

CITY OF LAKEWOOD Respondent,

ν.

DAVID KOENIG, *Appellant*.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WILLIAM JOHN CRITTENDEN Attorney for Appellant

William John Crittenden, #22033 Attorney at Law 300 East Pine Street Seattle, Washington 98122 (206) 361-5972 wjcrittenden@comcast.net STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II
2012 MAY 21 PM 12: 02

I. INTRODUCTION

This is a very strange case that raises important legal issues under the Public Records Act, Chap. 42.56 RCW (PRA).

The City of Lakewood brought this action against appellant David Koenig, purportedly to obtain a declaratory judgment that the City had complied with the PRA with respect to Koenig's requests for records. CP 5-6. The City asserts that it sued Koenig because he failed to "acknowledge in writing" that the City had complied with the PRA. CP 7. But the PRA does *not* allow an agency to demand that a requestor "acknowledge" that the agency's PRA response to a request complies with the PRA. On the contrary, the PRA clearly requires the agency to determine what specific exemptions are applicable to specific records, and to explain why such exemptions are applicable. RCW 42.56.210(3). Under the PRA, the burden of proving applicable exemptions is always on the agency, never on the requester. RCW 42.56.550(1)-(2).

At the very beginning of this case Koenig clearly stated that Koenig did not contest any of the City's redactions except for driver's license numbers. CP 17. Even though Koenig had narrowed the substantive issues to just one type of PRA redaction, the City made no attempt to obtain a judicial determination of whether the driver's license numbers were exempt. Instead, the City insisted on conducting

burdensome discovery that had absolutely nothing to do with the salient issue of whether the City had properly redacted driver's license numbers. This Court granted review and eventually quashed the City's effort to bludgeon Koenig with irrelevant discovery requests. *Lakewood v. Koenig*, 160 Wn. App. 883, 250 P.3d 113 (2011).

On remand, the City finally moved for summary judgment that driver's license numbers are exempt under the PRA. The City's motion revealed that the City had no idea whether driver's license numbers were exempt or why. The City failed to cite any specific statutory exemption for driver's license numbers. The City cited numerous inapplicable statutes, and made varied and inconsistent arguments about why it had redacted the driver's license numbers. CP 59-71.

In a cross-motion, Koenig explained that none of the City's claimed exemptions were applicable, and that the City had failed to carry its burden of proof under RCW 42.56.550. Koenig also explained that the City was liable for Koenig's attorney fees under *Sanders v. State*, 169 Wn.2d 827, 240 P.3d 120 (2010), because the City had failed to explain the application of specific exemptions to requested records as required by RCW 42.56.210(3). CP 107-134.

Nevertheless, the trial court granted the City's motion for summary judgment. Without citing any particular statute, the trial court erroneously

held that driver's license numbers are "exempt from disclosure as a matter of law." CP 229. When Koenig's counsel asked the trial court to state, on the record, why driver's license numbers were exempt, the court refused to do so. RP 9. The trial court also erroneously held, contrary to *Sanders*, *supra*, that the City's improper exemption claims did not render the City liable for attorney fees. CP 229.

Koenig has defended this case and appealed to this Court because an important principle is at stake. Under the PRA, **agencies** are supposed to know why records are exempt, and agencies are required to explain to requesters why records have been withheld or redacted. Agencies are *not* permitted to respond to PRA requests with unexplained or erroneous exemption claims and then sue requesters who refuse to perform the agencies' duties under the PRA.

The City's misguided effort to go on the offensive against a requester violates both the letter and the spirit of the PRA. The City sued Koenig without good cause, and it has caused Koenig to incur substantial attorney fees in defense of the rights of all PRA requesters. This Court must reverse the trial court's erroneous decision, and remand this matter to the trial court for an award of attorney fees to Koenig.

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Assignment of Error: The trial court erred in issuing the *Order* on *Cross-Motions for Summary Judgment* dated December 16, 2011. CP 228-230.

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error:

- A. Whether the City has explained why driver's license numbers are exempt under the PRA.
- B. Whether the City is liable for attorney fees under RCW 42.56.550(4) and *Sanders*, *supra*, for failing to explain how specific exemptions apply to the requested records.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Koenig's PRA Requests

This case arises out of Koenig's request for public records relating to three incidents in Lakewood.¹ The first request related to the arrest and prosecution of a Lakewood police officer for patronizing a prostitute. The

These requests were made while another PRA case involving the same parties was pending in the superior court. *Koenig v. Lakewood*, Pierce Co. No. 06-2-14000-7. In that case the trial court found that the City committed numerous violations of the PRA, and awarded Koenig more than \$40,000 in attorney fees and penalties. CP 138-152. Koenig appealed to this Court, seeking to overturn the trial court's erroneous reliance on the interpretation of the Criminal Records Privacy Act, Chap. 10.97 RCW ("CRPA") in *Hudgens v. City of Renton*, 49 Wn. App. 842, 746 P.2d 320 (1988). CP 147. This Court affirmed in an unpublished opinion, holding that *Hudgens* was no longer an issue. CP 103. Koenig's legal position was eventually vindicated. In *Bainbridge Is. Police Guild v. City of Puyallup*, 172 Wn.2d 398, 259 P.3d 190, 201-02 (August 18, 2011), the Supreme Court abrogated *Hudgens* for the same reasons that Koenig had argued to this Court in *Koenig v. Lakewood*.

second request related to the arrest and prosecution of a Tacoma police officer for assault. The third request related to an accident in which a Fife police officer struck a pedestrian with his patrol car. CP 6, 59-60.

In its response, the City asserted that driver's license numbers were exempt for various reasons. In response to Koenig's first request the City asserted that the officer's driver's license number were redacted under "RCW 46.52.120 and RCW 46.52.130." CP 75. In response to the second PRA request, the City asserted that the officer's driver's license number was redacted pursuant to "RCW 42.56.050, 46.52.120 and 46.52.130." CP 76. In response to the third PRA request the City stated:

The City is making available the investigation about an auto accident that occurred in the City of Fife in November of 2006. The City has redacted the dates of birth, driver's license numbers and social security numbers of (1) the involved officer; (2) the alleged victim; and (3) the listed eyewitnesses. These redactions are made pursuant to RCW 42.56.050, RCW 42.56.240, RCW 46.52.120, and RCW 46.52.130.

CP 75-76.² In sum, the City redacted driver's license numbers pursuant to two sections of the PRA, RCW 42.56.050 and RCW 42.56.240, and two sections of Chapter 46.52 RCW (relating to accident reports).

² The City's motion for summary judgment purported to quote this portion of the City's response. In fact, the City's quotation was false, deleting the statutes that the City actually relied on in its response, and adding citations to new statutes. CP 60; *see* section III (C) (below).

Copies of portions of the redacted records produced by the City (CP 160-169) are attached to this brief as an **Appendix**. In response to the first request, the City redacted the officer's driver's license number but not his name, address, phone number, or birth date. CP 160-163. In response to the second request the City redacted the driver's license numbers and birth dates of witnesses but not their names, addresses, or phone numbers. CP 164-168. In response to the third request the City redacted the officer's driver's license number but not his name or birth date. CP 169.

The City immediately threatened to take legal action against Koenig unless he notified the City in writing that the City's PRA responses were satisfactory. CP 77. Given the City's history of making erroneous exemption claims, there was no reason for Koenig to "acknowledge" that the City's numerous exemption claims were correct.

Koenig responded by questioning a number of the City's exemption claims. First, Koenig noted that in its earlier responses the City had asserted that driver's license numbers were exempt pursuant to the Driver's Privacy Protection Act of 1994, 18 USC § 2721 (DPPA), and *Reno v. Condon*, 528 U.S. 141 (2000), which the City had not cited in its current response. Koenig asked the City to clarify its response. CP 80. Second, Koenig objected that the City's citations to RCW 42.56.050 and RCW 42.56.240 were insufficient, that it was not clear which of five

subsections of RCW 42.56.240 the City intended to rely upon, and that, assuming the City meant to rely on subsection (1) of RCW 42.56.240, the City had not established that driver's license numbers were private for purposes of the PRA. CP 82. Third, Koenig questioned the City's reliance on RCW 46.52.120 and RCW 46.52.130, noting that those statutes did not allow the City to redact any information from documents other than driver's license abstracts, and that the City had redacted driver's license numbers from other types of documents (police reports, collision reports, and a court docket). CP 82.

In response, the City clarified that it also intended to rely on DPPA and *Reno v. Condon* as a basis for the redaction of driver's license numbers. CP 87. The City asserted that dates of birth were exempt under RCW 42.56.240(2) (information revealing the identity of witnesses) but did not attempt to explain why the driver's license numbers of police officers would be exempt under that subsection. CP 87-88. The City simply ignored Koenig's question regarding RCW 46.52.120, -.130. Instead, the City stated: "Given what should be the self-evident nature of redacting an individual's driver's license number, we decline your invitation to provide further and unnecessary explanation." CP 88.

B. City's Lawsuit and Discovery Requests

The City filed this action on March 5, 2008, and amended its

complaint on April 28, 2008. Two weeks later, the City submitted nine pages of burdensome, pointless discovery requests to Koenig. CP 170-178.

Koenig's *Answer*, filed on June 12, 2008, explained that the City was violating its duties under the PRA:

The City seems to believe that it is entitled to respond to public records requests with ambiguous, poorly-researched, erroneous or otherwise insufficient exemption claims and then demand that the requester perform time-consuming legal research to determine whether the City's exemption claims are correct. Koenig and other requesters have no obligation to perform such research or to tell the City whether it has made yet another erroneous exemption claim.

CP 16. Koenig's *Answer* specifically denied that the City had properly redacted driver's license numbers. CP 17.

Unsatisfied with Koenig's responses to the City's discovery requests, the City brought a motion to compel. Koenig responded with a motion for protective order. On December 5, 2008, the trial court ordered Koenig to answer the City's discovery requests. CP 19-20.

Koenig immediately sought interlocutory review of the trial court's discovery order. This Court granted review and stayed the order. On March 29, 2011, this Court reversed the discovery order in a published opinion, holding that the City's discovery requests were not reasonably

calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. *Lakewood*, 160 Wn. App. at 897. This Court issued its mandate on June 13, 2011.

C. Summary Judgment Motions on Remand

Almost five months after this Court issued its mandate the City finally moved for summary judgment on whether driver's license numbers are exempt under the PRA. The City's motion revealed that the City had no idea whether driver's license numbers were exempt or why. The City cited numerous inapplicable statutes, and made varied and inconsistent arguments about why it had redacted driver's license numbers. CP 59-71.

The City's motion purported to quote from the City's initial response dated November 30, 2007. But the City's quotation was patently false, deleting the statutes that the City actually relied on in that response, and adding citations to new statutes. The following shows the actual text of the City's response on November 30, 2007, with the creative revisions in the City's motion shown in double underlining and strikeout:

The City is making available the investigation about an auto accident that occurred in the City of Fife in November of 2006. The City has redacted the dates of birth, and driver's license numbers and social security numbers of (1) the involved officer; (2) the alleged victim; and (3) the listed eyewitnesses. These redactions are made pursuant to RCW 42.56.050, RCW 42.56.240, RCW 46.52.120, and RCW 46.52.130 RCW 42.56.070.

Compare CP 75-76; with CP 60. This was not a mere misquotation by the City of the City's own response. The City's assertion that it redacted

driver's license numbers under "RCW 42.56.070" was an outright and quite remarkable fabrication. The City had never cited that section of the PRA before.

In a cross-motion, Koenig explained that none of the City's claimed exemptions were applicable, and that the City had failed to carry its burden of proof under RCW 42.56.550. Koenig also explained that the City was liable for Koenig's attorney fees under *Sanders*, 169 Wn.2d 827, because the City had failed to explain the application of specific exemptions to requested records as required by RCW 42.56.210(3). CP 107-134.

Nevertheless, the trial court granted the City's motion for summary judgment. Without citing any particular statute, the trial court erroneously held that driver's license numbers are "exempt from disclosure as a matter of law." CP 229. When Koenig's counsel asked the trial court to state, on the record, why driver's license numbers were exempt, the court refused to do so. RP 9. The trial court also erroneously held, contrary to *Sanders*, *supra*, that the City's improper exemption claims did not render the City liable for attorney fees. CP 229.

Koenig appealed. CP 231-234.

IV. ARGUMENT

This appeal presents two basic issues: (A) whether the City has complied with RCW 42.56.210(3) by explaining how specific PRA exemptions apply to the driver's license numbers, and (B) whether the City is liable for Koenig's attorney fees regardless of whether driver's license numbers are exempt. This Court's review on both of these issues is *de novo*. RCW 42.56.550(3); *Sanders*, 169 Wn.2d at 866.

A. The City has failed to explain how the exemptions cited by the City apply to driver's license numbers.

The PRA requires the City to produce all requested public records unless a record falls within a specific PRA exemption or other statute which exempts or prohibits disclosure of specific information or records. RCW 42.56.070(1); Seattle Times v. Serko, 170 Wn.2d 581, 591, 243 P.3d 919 (2010); Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. UW (PAWS II), 125 Wn.2d 243, 251 n.2, 884 P.2d 592 (1994). PRA exemptions must be narrowly construed. RCW 42.56.030; Seattle Times, 170 Wn.2d at 591; PAWS II, 125 Wn.2d at 260. "Administrative inconvenience or difficulty does not excuse strict compliance with the PRA." Rental Housing Ass'n v. City of Des Moines, 165 Wn.2d 525, 535, 199 P.3d 393 (2009) (citing Zink v. City of Mesa, 140 Wn. App. 328, 337, 166 P.3d 738 (2007)).

The PRA explicitly places the burden of proof on the agency, not the requester. RCW 42.56.550. In any action for judicial review the agency bears the burden of proof "to establish that refusal to permit public inspection and copying is in accordance with a statute that exempts or prohibits disclosure in whole or in part of specific information or records." RCW 42.56.550(1); Rental Housing Ass'n, 165 Wn.2d at 535. Even if Koenig were the plaintiff in this case, the City would bear the burden to prove that it has complied with the PRA. See, e.g., Mechling v. Monroe, 152 Wn. App. 830, 842, 222 P.3d 808 (2009) (agency had burden of proof where requester was the plaintiff and appellant). Despite its efforts to improperly shift the burden of proof to Koenig, the burden remains on the City to show that it has complied with the PRA.

The PRA also requires agencies to **explain** how cited exemptions apply to withheld or redacted records. RCW 42.56.210(3) provides:

(3) Agency responses refusing, in whole or in part, inspection of any public record shall include a statement of the specific exemption authorizing the withholding of the record (or part) and a brief explanation of how the exemption applies to the record withheld. (Emphasis added).

It is not enough for an agency to merely cite one or more exemptions. RCW 42.56.210(3) requires an agency to provide a brief explanation of how an exemption applies to a record. "Allowing the mere identification

of a document and the claimed exemption to count as a 'brief explanation' would render the brief-explanation clause superfluous." *Sanders*, 169 Wn.2d at 846. Koenig raised this point in his *Answer*, explaining that, as the requester, Koenig had no obligation to research the City's exemption claims to determine whether they were correct. CP 16. The City ignored Koenig at its peril.

Furthermore, an agency's failure to properly explain how specific exemptions apply to withheld records, as required by RCW 42.56.210(3), is a separate violation of the PRA. *Sanders*, 169 Wn.2d at 846. In *Sanders*, *supra*, the agency argued that the only remedy for a violation of the brief explanation requirement was to compel the agency to provide an explanation. The Supreme Court disagreed, noting that the PRA must provide a remedy (attorney fees) for an agency's failure to properly explain its exemption claims:

[T]he State's interpretation contravenes the PRA's purpose. If the only remedy for a failure to explain is to sue to compel explanation, the agency has no incentive to explain its exemptions at the outset. This forces requesters to resort to litigation, while allowing the agency to escape sanction of any kind. *Cf. Spokane Research & Defense Fund v. City of Spokane*, 155 Wn.2d 89, 103-04, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005) (refusing to allow agencies to resist complying with the PRA until after a suit is filed without facing a penalty).

Sanders, 169 Wn.2d at 847-48. Under Sanders, an agency that fails to provide the explanation of exemptions required by RCW 42.56.210(3) is

liable for attorney fees under RCW 42.56.550(4) whether or not the records at issue are later determined to be exempt or penalties are awarded. *Id.* at 848, 860; *Yakima County v. Yakima Herald-Republic*, 170 Wn.2d 775, 890, 246 P.3d 768 (2011).

In this case, the City repeatedly violated RCW 42.56.210(3) by failing to explain why driver's license numbers are exempt. Before this case was filed, the City had given Koenig numerous inconsistent and erroneous explanations as to why the City believed driver's license numbers were exempt. See section III(A) above. After the City filed this case, Koenig specifically warned the City that its redaction of driver's license numbers was erroneous, and that the City was violating its duties under the PRA by attempting to force Koenig to determine whether the City's exemption claims were correct. CP 16-17. And rather than promptly seeking judicial review of the sole issue of whether driver's license numbers are exempt, the City chose to fight a three-year long discovery battle that the City eventually lost.

When the City finally moved for summary judgment on remand, the City sought to rely on alleged "textual gaps in the PRA," "common sense," and a pastiche of inapplicable statutes and court rules. CP 62-63. That kind of sloppy analysis of exemptions is clearly prohibited by the

PRA, which requires the City to cite specific statutory exemptions, and to explain how those exemptions apply.

As set forth in the following subsections, the City has repeatedly violated RCW 42.56.210(3) and *Sanders*, *supra*, by failing to explain how the exemptions cited by the City apply to driver's license numbers. It is unclear which of its many and varied exemption claims the City will rely on in this appeal. In the trial court, after Koenig explained that all of the City's exemption theories were erroneous, CP 107-134, the City made no attempt to explain, defend, or retract any of the City's defective exemption claims. *See* CP 183-190.

It is also unclear which of the City's exemption theories, if any, were relied on by the trial court. The trial court erroneously held that driver's license numbers are "exempt from disclosure as a matter of law," but refused to state what specific statute, if any, exempted driver's license numbers from public disclosure. CP 229; RP 9.

1. Definition of "public record"

The City argued for the first time, in its motion for summary judgment, that "a driver's license number is not a 'public record,' under the PRA." CP 63. This argument was not supported by any authority, and is directly contrary to *Mechling v. Monroe*, 152 Wn. App. 830, 222 P.3d 808 (2009). In *Mechling*, the city redacted various emails based on an

assertion that some of the information in the emails did not meet the definition of a public record under the PRA. 152 Wn. App. at 854. The Court of Appeals squarely held that the definition of "public record" is not a statutory exemption that allows an agency to redact records. "On remand, unless the City can establish a statutory exemption that allows redaction, the City must provide the e-mails without redaction." 152 Wn. App. at 855. Under *Mechling*, the City cannot use the definition of "public record" to redact anything from a public record.

2. DPPA and Reno v. Condon

In its letter dated February 25, 2008, the City stated that it intended to rely on the DPPA and *Reno v. Condon, supra*, as a basis for redacting driver's license numbers. CP 87. But the City has failed to explain why that statute or the cited case required the City to redact driver's license numbers.

As a threshold matter, it is unclear why the City purported to rely on *Reno v. Condon*, *supra*, as the basis for its redactions. *Reno v. Condon* merely held that the DPPA did not violate either the Commerce Clause, U.S. Const., Art. I, § 8, cl. 3, or the principles of federalism in the Tenth and Eleventh Amendments to the Constitution. 528 U.S. at 148-150.

³ The PRA definition of "public record" in former RCW 42.56.010(2) was re-codified as RCW 42.56.020(3), effective January 1, 2012. Laws of 2010, ch. 204, § 1005.

The DPPA restricts the disclosure of certain "personal information" by certain parties. 18 USC § 2721(a) provides, in relevant part:

- (a) In general.--A State department of motor vehicles, and any officer, employee, or contractor thereof, shall not knowingly disclose or otherwise make available to any person or entity:
- (1) personal information, as defined in 18 U.S.C. 2725(3), about any individual obtained by the department in connection with a motor vehicle record, except as provided in subsection (b) of this section...

18 USC § 2721(b) provides a list of fourteen (14) permissible uses for which "personal information" may be disclosed. *See City's Motion* at 10, n.1. "Personal information" is defined as:

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