1. INTRODUCTION

Although a broadly-worded mandate for the full disclosure of

Brief of Respondent — Page 1



the losing party below, Mr. Koenig fails to articulate why he believes that

this Court should treat driver's license numbers any differently.

To that end, the City of Lakewood requests that this Court affirm

the decision below and award it reasonable attorney fees for defending

MIROVEW

This case returns to this Court for a second time. City of Lakewood

v. Koenig, 160 Wn. App. 883, 250 P.3d 113 ( 2011). This Court has

previously summarized some of the facts underpinning this dispute:

nl The City redacted other information, but Koenig did not
litigate those redactions. As such, the only issue is whether
the City properly withheld driver's license numbers.

On March 5, 2008, the City sought declaratory relief that it
had fully satisfied its obligations to Koenig under the PRA.
On May 13, the City served Koenig with interrogatories
and requests for production.
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Id., 160 Wn. App. at 886-887 (footnote 2 and citation to clerks papers
omitted).

Among the discovery which the City did submit to Mr. Koenig,

and not at issue in the prior appeal, were several interrogatories.' The City

asked Mr. Koenig: (1) whether he " maintain[ed] that the City of

Lakewood otherwise violated the provisions of the Public Records Act,

chapter 42.56 RCW in the processing of the public records requests

forming the basis of this litigation;" (2) whether it was "[his] contention

that there are responsive public records which should have been produced

in response to these requests, but were not produced;" (3) if there were

any claims of exemption or redaction which [he did] not understand;" (4)

whether he claimed that the City "made any improper/incorrect redactions

or claimed improper/incorrect exemptions to production." (CP 175-177;

Interrogatories Nos. 8, 9, 10 & 13).

In response, Mr. Koenig did not identify any documents which he

believed were wrongfully withheld. (CP 180). Instead, he claimed that

the City cited "inapplicable exemptions," to redactions of driver's license

numbers. (1d). He also included a cross-reference to his Answer wherein

he averred that "[flt is possible, if not likely in light of the City's prior

behavior, that the City has violated the PRA in other respects. However,

Koenig does not care to litigate other possible violations so the matter is

moot and/or nonjusticiable." (CP 17,113.5)

1 Mr. Koenig sought, and this Court granted discretionary review on an unrelated
interrogatory and request for production relative to his prior litigation history. This Court
affirmed in part, and reversed in part a decision of the superior court related to this
discovery dispute. See generally, City QfLakewood v. Koenig, supra.
2 The relevant discovery and Mr. Koenig's responses appear as Appendix A to this brief.
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below should be affirmed. Even if he did make this claim, because

driver's license numbers are exempt from disclosure, the decision below

should still be affirmed.

Furthermore, the City requests fees on appeal for defending against

A. Standard of Review.

The appellate standard of review is simple and succinct: "[w]e

review challenges to agency actions under the PRA de novo." ONeill v.

City of Shoreline, 170 Wn.2d 138, 145, 240 P.3d 1149 (2010)(citations

omitted).

B. in the Absence of a "Wromzfully Withheld" Record, the

City has not Violated the PRA in a Manner Entitling Mr.

Koenig to Relicf

Relief under the PRA for an aggrieved requestor relative to the
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adequacy of an exemption statement is not a "freestanding" violation of

the Act,

Penalties are available only for a party who prevails on a
claim of being denied the right to inspect or copy public
records; a claim for the right to receive an exemption
statement is not such a claim. Sanders, 169 Wn.2d at 860.

Failure to provide an exemption statement may constitute
an aggravator when deciding the amount of penalties for an
agency's wrongful withholding of a record, but penalties
are not available for a "freestanding" failure to provide an
exemption statement. Sanders, 169 Wn.2d at 860-61.

Herald Republic. As this Court has already explained, in response to a

similar argument, the distinctions between those cases are factual in

nature, where the agency had already violated the PRA by wrongfully

withholding records,

In Yakima County, the newspaper was entitled to costs and
fees because the county was equivocal about its possession
of responsive records and, instead of identifying those
records, forced the paper to file a court action. In Sanders,
the State's failure to provide a brief explanation of the
claimed exemptions added to the fees and costs imposed.
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De-Long v. Parmelee, 164 Wn. App. 781, 787, 267 P.3d 410

2011)(intemal citations omitted).
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But in this case, Mr. Koenig does not maintain that the City

wrongfully withheld," a record from him. The City identified the

withheld records as a driver's license number. It cited various

exemptions. In the absence of a claim that the record itself has been

unlawfully withheld," there is no relief under the PRA which this Court

can afford Mr. Koenig by a reversal of the trial court's decision, there is

no basis to reverse.

C. Mr. Koenig has Failed to Identify a Single "Wrongfully

Withheld" Record.

Further hindering any meaningful ability to determine whether
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Prior to the commencement of this litigation, the City inquired of

Mr. Koenig whether he was satisfied with the responses,

City ofLakewood v. Koenig, 160 Wn.App. at 886.

Underpinning the necessity for suit was the fact that, in addition to

a prior case involving the City of Lakewood, the City had discovered that

in two other lawsuits, Mr. Koenig delayed service of process for

approximately fifteen months post-disclosure, thereby potentially

subjecting the City to then-mandatory daily penalties should a violation be

established. 
3

Early in this litigation, the City served interrogatories upon Mr.

Koenig. Notably, when asked "[w]hy it is that you believe that the

document was improperly/incorrectly redacted or an exemption

improperly claimed," (CP 176 (Interrogatory 9(c)); Mr. Koenig failed to

give any explanation, and simply asserted that the exemptions claimed by

3 On May 29, 2012, the City filed a designation of clerk's papers. As of this filing,
neither the index nor the supplemental records have been transmitted to this Court. To
avoid any unnecessary delay in the filing of this brief, we have cited to the anticipated
pagination of these supplemental clerk's papers.

In a lawsuit against Pierce County, Mr. Koenig's claim accrued on or about January 3,
2006 (CP 264,  2.3); he filed suit 364 days later on January 2, 2007 (CP 263) and waited
until March 27, 2007 — one week before the expiration of the 90 day tolling period —
before serving the county. (CP 266). In a similar lawsuit against the City of Lake Forest
Park, Mr. Koenig's claim accrued on September 11, 2006 (CP 271, 2.4); suit was filed
on September 4, 2007 (CP 270) and service accepted by Lake Forest Park on November
7, 2007. (CP 274). In his prior lawsuit against the City of Lakewood, Mr. Koenig waited
364 days before filing, and waited 89 days before service. (CP 142,' 16; CP 143, TT 22,
23).
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the City were "inapplicable." (CP 180; Answers to Interrogatories 9 and

13). Mr. Koenig also responded he did not believe that any records were

improperly withheld. ( CP 175, 180 (interrogatory No. 8)).

Finally, at the hearing on the parties' cross-motions for summary

judgment, Mr. Koenig was given a prime opportunity to clarify whether he

was, in fact, seeking driver's license numbers,

The Court: Well, let's jump into the fray and ask [Mr.
Koeing's counsel]: Should driver's license ID numbers be
redacted or not'?

Counsel for Mr. Koenig]: Your Honor, that's not the
question. The question in this case ---

The Court: Well, it is my question.
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response, and then tell the requester that if they are not
satisfied, they are going to get hauled into court....

Taken as a whole, the superior court properly granted the City

D. The Superior Court Properly Determined that Driver's_
License Numbers are Exempt Under the PRA.

In view of Mr. Koenig's failure to enunciate a basis to claim that

The general purpose of the exemptions to the Act's broad
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To the extent that the PRA itself should be analyzed, several PRA

To the extent necessary to prevent an unreasonable

invasion of personal privacy interests protected by the
PRA, the agency shall redact identifying details and
produce the remainder of the record. RCW 42.56.070(1).

Bainbridge Island Police Guild v. City qf'Puyallup, 172 Wn.2d 398, 407,
259 P.3d 191 (2011)(Emphasis Added).

Thus, whether treated as a stand-alone exemption, or redacted to
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provides, an exemption for "[d]ocuments and related materials and

scanned images of documents and related materials used to prove identity,

age, residential address, social security number, or other personal

information required to apply for a driver's license or identicard." If the

d]ocuments and related materials," associated with a driver's license

application is exempt, it stands to reason that the driver's license number

itself is also exempt.

In any event, other exemptions cited by the City provide a basis for
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reads the statute in the context of the whole statute and larger statutory

scheme and avoids an interpretation which would lead to an absurd result.

City of Auburn v. Gauntt, --- Wn.2d ---, 11 13, 2012 Wash. LEXIS 298

Wash. Apr. 19, 2012)(citing, Dept of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn,

LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9-10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002); Wright v. Jeckle, 158 Wn.2d

375, 379-80, 144 P.3d 301 (2006)). It seems absurd that on one hand, an

agency is required to notify citizens of a security breach of a driver's

license number, but on the other hand, must disclose this same information

to anyone who requests it via the PRA.

Similar sorts of protections over driver's license numbers exist

throughout Washington law and carry over into the PRA- In his briefing,

Mr. Koenig argues that the City claimed these statutes and court rules as

exemptions under the PRA. The City has done no such thing. What the

City has done is use the existence of these authorities and the policies

behind them, to reinforce the general privacy principles which are covered

by other exemptions.

One statutory scheme, in particular, the provisions of chapter

19.215 RCW, require that agencies destroy or dispose of certain personal
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identification information. Under the policy statement of RCW

The Legislature in enacting RCW 19.215.005 did not choose its

words lightly. In this statute, the Legislature speaks of a "continuing

obligation," to safeguard personal information. To that end, agencies have

a statutory duty to destroy such personal information when it is done with

it. RCW 19.215.020(l). If there is a "continuing obligation," to safeguard

this information at destruction, it necessarily implies a pre-existing duty to

safeguard this information at the time it is used by the entity in question.

In fact, the Legislature expressly provides that driver's license numbers

are expressly included within the ambit of RCW 19.215.010(5).

As the City also pointed out to the superior court, a number of

other statutes reinforce the privacy protections associated with driver

license information. Our legislature has criminalized the possession of

another person's driver's identification, classifying this offense as a gross

misdemeanor. RCW 9A.56.330. Application of a concealed pistol license

ordinarily requires a driver's license number. RCW 9.41.070(4). Such
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applications are exempt from disclosure under the PRA. RCW

42.56.240(4).

As the City stressed in its briefing before the Superior Court and

reiterates here, the failure to expressly call-out and specifically exempt

driver's license numbers may be a textual gap in the PRA. But it is also

one which the judiciary has already determined on its own is worthy of

protection. By court rule, driver's license information is a " restricted

personal identifier[]," which is not to be publicly filed with a court. GR

15(b)(6); GR 15(c)(2)(E); GR 22(b)(6).

Although the PRA itself does not contain a precise exemption for

driver's license numbers, viewing the applicable landscape, it should be

abundantly clear that there is ample authority to exempt driver's license

numbers from public disclosure. Thus, whether viewed as a stand-alone

exemption under the PRA or one supported by multiple statutes, under any

set of circumstances, driver's license numbers are exempt. As such, this

Court should affirm the superior court.

E. The Appeal is Frivolous. The City Requests Attorney Fees.

In accordance with RAP 18.1 and 18.9(c)(2), the City of

Lakewood requests its attorney fees for responding to a frivolous appeal.

An appeal is frivolous if there are no debatable issues upon which

reasonable minds might differ and it is so totally devoid of merit that there

was no reasonable possibility of reversal." Fay v. Northwest Airlines, 115

Wn.2d 194, 201, 796 P.2d 412 ( 1990)(citing, Green River Connn'ty

College Dist. 10 v. Higher Educ. Personnel Bd., 107 Wn.2d 427, 442-43,

730 P.2d 653 (1986)). Viewed within the confines of this rule, this appeal

satisfies these legal requirements. Viewed in a common sense manner,

this case cries for the imposition of these fees.
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Granting relief to Mr. Koenig furthers none of the purposes behind

On the other hand, this Court has held that the PRA is not a game

to be used by requestors to purloin taxpayer funds from agencies for

alleged technical violations of the Act and that sanctions are — in

appropriate cases — appropriately assessed against requestors who misuse

the Act:

This is one of those, hopefully isolated, cases in which the PRA is
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personal identifier, Mr. Koenig seeks profit simply because an agency has

redacted something wholly proper, and in the process consume both this

Court's valuable time as well as the City's scant resources to litigate this

academic issue.

Mr. Koenig presents no debatable issues upon which reasonable

minds may differ, as to why driver's license numbers should be producible

under the PRA, and there should be no reasonable possibility of reversal.

RAP 18.9. Accordingly, the City requests its attorney fees for defending

against a frivolous appeal, in an amount to be determined by a

commissioner of this Court,

IV. CONCLUSION

The City of Lakewood therefore requests that this Court (1) affirm

the decision of the Pierce County Superior Court in this matter; and (2)

award it reasonable attorney fees for defending against this frivolous

appeal pursuant to RAP 18.9.